BYLAWS FOR THE OCEANOGRAPHY SOCIETY

Every organization must have its operating rules, and The Oceanography Society is no exception. The proposed Bylaws presented below have been developed by the Interim Council using what the Council feels to be the best of the elements of the organization of other successful scientific societies. The Council has drawn heavily on the organization of the American Meteorological Society, one that has stood the test of time and served its community well. In brief, the Society is made up of various classes of mem-

bers, governed by an elected Council and Officers There will be an annual meeting for general scientific communication and for transacting the business of the Society The Bylaws provide the mechanism for the nomination and election of the Council and Officers and designate the duties of these. The Bylaws also provide for appointment of certain officers to carry out the business of the Society. Finally, the Bylaws provide for publications of various kinds and establish the means for amendments

Your comments and suggestions on the Bylaws are solicited The Interim Council will collect these and make the necessary revisions to the draft, which will be formally considered by the first elected Council, to be named in July. The Bylaws then will be formally accepted by the Council at the business meeting in August as part of the Inaugural Meeting at Monterey. Please send comments to D. James Baker, Interim President, at the Society's Washington address. We look forward to hearing from you.

The Oceanography Society

Proposed Bylaws

ARTICLE I. Name

This Society shall be called the Oceanography Society

ARTICLE II. Objectives. The objectives of this Society are the development and dissemination of knowledge of oceanography and such other pur-poses as are stated in the Articles of Incorporation.

ARTICLE III. Membership. 1. The membership of the Society shall initially consist of four classes of members to be described as:

Regular Members Student Members

Corporate and Institutional Members

Associate Members

Only Regular and Student Members are eligible to vote. Only Regular Members are eligible to hold office and to be members of the Council with such further limitations as may be imposed by these Bylaws.

2. Those eligible for election to membership shall be interested in the advancement of the objectives of the Society and shall satisfy one or more of the following categories of criteria:

A. Hold a graduate degree in oceanography or related sciences

B. Have equivalent experience in an activity in which his or her knowledge is applied to the advancement or applications of oceanic or related sciences:

C. Notwithstanding the provisions of the above criteria, the Council may elect as Members other persons deemed to have advanced the field by management or public service.

3. Corporations and other organizations desirous of support ing oceanography or related sciences and their application are eligible for election to Corporate or Institutional Member 4. Those eligible for election to Student Member shall be

graduate or undergraduate students enrolled in oceanography or related sciences at an accredited institution of higher learning

5. Those eligible for election to Associate Member shall be individuals interested in the advancement of the objectives of the Society

The Council or its designee will elect members.

ARTICLE IV Dues

Every Member shall pay such fees or assessments, annual or otherwise, as may be authorized for the Member's class of membership from time to time by a majority vote of those Council members eligible to vote. Any Member who fails to pay any fees or assessments within a period of ninety days after such fees or assessments are payable is subject to removal from membership for such nonpayment. Removal from membership requires a majority vote of those Council members eligible to vote

ARTICLE V. Elective Offices. 1 The elective Officers of the Society shall be

A. A President, who shall be the immediate past President-Elect

B. A President-Elect

2. The term of office of the President and the President-Elect shall be approximately two years, pursuant to the terms of Article VI, paragraph 8

3. If the office of President becomes vacant, the President-Elect shall assume the authorities and responsibilities of President for the remainder of the unexpired term

If the office of President-Elect becomes vacant, the office

shall remain vacant until the next general election, at which time both a President and President-Elect shall be elected.

5 If both offices become vacant, then the Council will choose, by majority vote, one of its members to serve until the next general election

6. The President shall, when present, preside at all meetings of the members of the Council and shall perform such other duties and exercise such other powers as shall from time to time be assigned by the Council. 5. The President-Elect shall preside, in the absence of the

President, at all meetings of the members of the Board of Directors and shall perform such other duties and exercise such other powers as shall from time to time be assigned by the Council

ARTICLE VI. Nomination and Election of Elective Officers and Counselors

1. The Council shall arrange for the nomination of candidates for each elective office and Council position to be filled

Nominations also may be made by petition signed by at least twenty members eligible to vote, provided that the petition is received by the Executive Officer together with the written consent of the nominee no later than one hundred and fifty days prior to the annual meeting. 2. The election of elective Officers and Counselors by members

eligible to vote shall be by mail ballot.

3. At least ninety days prior to the Annual Meeting, the Executive Officer shall mail to each member eligible to vote a ballot containing the names of the nominees for elective office and the Council. The ballot may contain any questions designated by the Council or by a petition signed by at least twenty members who are eligible to vote

4. The ballots shall be cast by mail. To be counted the ballots must be received by the Executive Officer at the Headquarters of the Society at least thirty days prior to the date of the next Annual Meeting.

Each member eligible to vote shall be entitled to one vote for President-Elect and one vote for each council vacancy to be filled The candidate receiving the highest number of votes cast for President-Elect and the appropriate number of candidates for Councilor receiving the highest number of votes cast shall be declared elected.

In the event of any tie vote between two or more candidates for any office, including that of President-Elect, the Council shall choose between said candidates by ballot.

5. In the event of a vacancy on the Council, which vacancy would extend beyond the next Annual Meeting, the vacancy shall be filled by that person receiving the next highest number of votes, after those elected for a full term, in the next election following the occurrence of the vacancy. 6. Any elective Officer or Counselor may be removed from

office for due cause by a vote of at least two-thirds of those Council members who are eligible to vote, not including among the Counselors eligible to vote the Counselor or elective Officer whose removal is the subject of the vote.

7. Any elective Officer or Counselor may resign at any time by delivering a written resignation to the Executive Officer or the Secretary of the Society. The acceptance of any such resignation, unless required by the terms thereof, shall not be necessary to make the same effective

8. The term of office of each of the elective Officers and Counselors shall commence at the adjournment of the Annual Meeting at which his or her election is announced and shall end when his or her successor takes office.

9. The Council may adopt additional procedures governing elections that are consistent with the Articles of Incorporation and these Bylaws

ARTICLE VII. Council.

1. The Corporate powers of the Society shall be vested in the Council subject to the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Society The Council shall be the principal governing body of the Society. It shall consist of the elected Officers, consisting of the President, the President-Elect, and the immediate Past-President, and six other elected voting members of the Society, each elected for a three-year term, with the terms of one-third of the Courselors ending each year. Courselors are eligible for re-election but not to consecutive terms. The appointed Officers, consisting of the Executive Officer, Corporate Secretary. Treasurer, and Director of Publications, shall be members of the Council ex- officio and without the power to vote.

2 Two Counselors shall be elected in accordance with Article VI each year for a term of three years

3 To provide rotation of membership when the first Council is elected, one, two, and three year terms will be determined by lot

4. The Council shall appoint an Executive Officer, a Corporate Secretary, a Treasurer, and a Director of Publications Ap

pointment in each case shall require an affirmative vote of a majority of those Council members eligible to vote

5. The Council may make any interim appointments to vacancies not otherwise provided for in the Articles of Incorporation or the Bylaws

6. The Council shall meet at least once a year. A meeting shall also be held within thirty days of a request for such meeting by the President, the Executive Officer, or any four voting members of the Council.

7. Any action required or permitted to be taken by the Council may be taken without a meeting if two-thirds of the Counselors consent in writing or by electronic equivalent to the adoption of the resolution authorizing the action

ARTICLE VIII. Committees.

1. The Council may create such committees as may be deemed desirable in carrying out the purposes of the Society Such committees shall be elected or appointed in such manner as may be determined by the Council and shall have such lawful duties as may be specified by the Board. An individual may be a member of any such committee if such individual is a member of the Society. Such individual need not be an Officer or Counselor of the Society

2 The names, purposes, membership, and terms of office of members of all committees established by the Council shall be published in the Society's official publication established pursuant to Article XII.

ARTICLE IX. Appointed Officers.

1 The appointed officers shall be the Executive Officer, the Corporate Secretary, the Treasurer, and the Director of Publications

2. More than one appointed office may be held by any individual

3 The appointment of an individual to appointed office shall require a majority vote of those Council members eligible to vote. 4 Removal of the Executive Officer, the Corporate Secre-

tary, the Treasurer, or the Director of Publications shall only be by vote of at least two-thirds of those Council members eligible to vote.

5 An appointed officer may resign at any time by delivering a written resignation to the President or President-Elect. The acceptance of any such resignation, unless required by terms thereof, shall not be necessary to make the same effective

6 The Executive Officer shall, unless authority be given to other officers or agents to do so, execute all contracts and agreements on behalf of the Society which are authorized by the Council. It shall be his or her duty to carry out the orders of the Council. In the absence of the President and the President-Elect, the Executive Officer shall preside at meetings of the members and the Council

7. The Corporate Secretary shall have such powers and duties as are customary in a corporation of this type and such as may from time to time be assigned to him or her by the Council. 8. The Treasurer shall be responsible for the financial as-

pects of the Society and shall have such powers and duties as are customary in a corporation of this type and such as may from time to time be assigned to him or her by the Council.

ARTICLE X. Compensation.

Elective Officers and Counselors shall not be compensated for services rendered to the Society, but may be reimbursed for actual expenses incurred in performing duties assigned to them by the Council The Council shall have the power to fix the compensation and fees payable to appointed Officers for services rendered to the Society.

ARTICLE XI. Meetings.

1 There shall be an Annual Meeting of members during each calendar year at a time and place designated by the Council. Notice of the time and place of the Annual Meeting shall be given to the membership by the Executive Officer not less than one hundred and eighty days days before the date on which the Annual Meeting is held.

2. A special meeting of the members may be called by the President or the Council or may be called by the Executive Officer upon petition signed by at least five percent of the members eligible to vote on the preceding May 1. Any special meeting called by the Executive Officer pursuant to petition of members shall be held within ninety days of the petitioning for such meeting at a time and place designated by the Board. The Executive Officer shall give notice of the meeting not less than thirty days before the date on which the meeting is to be held

3 The rules contained in "Robert's Rules of Order Revised" shall govern all business meetings of the Society unless inconsistent with the Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, or any standing rules of the Society.

[PLEASE TURN TO PAGE 52]

JOINT GLOBAL OCEAN

[CONTINUED FROM PAGE 7]

- Deuser, W.G., 1986: Seasonal and interannual variations in deep-water particle fluxes in the Sargasso Sea and their relation to surface hydrography. Deep-Sea Research, 33, 225-246.
- Evans, G.T. and J.S. Parslow, 1985: A model of annual plankton cycles. Biol. Oceanogr., 3, 327-347.
- Gran, H.H. and T. Braarud, 1935: A quantitative study of the phytoplankton in the Bay of Fundy and the Gulf of Maine including observations on the hydrography, chemistry and turbidity. J. Biol. Bd. Canada, 1, 219-467.
- Hensen, V., 1887: Ueber die Bestimmung des Planktons oder des im Meere treibenden Materials an Pflanzen und Thieren. In: Fuenfter Bericht

MARINE BIOLUMINESCENCE

[CONTINUED FROM PAGE 38]

- Stommel, H., 1979: Oceanic warming of western Europe, Proc. Natl. Acad Sci. USA, 76, No.6, 2518-2521.
- Strass, V. and J. D. Woods, 1988: Horizontal and seasonal variation of density and chlorophyll profiles between the Azores and Greenland. In: Towards a Theory of Biological-Physical Interactions in the World Ocean, ed. B.J. Rothschild, D. Reidel, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 113-136.
- Swift, E., W.H. Biggeley, P.G. Verity, D.T. Brown 1983: Zooplankton are major sources of epipelagic bioluminescence in the southern Sargasso Sea, Bull. Mar. Sci. 33, 855-683.
- Swift, E., C.R. Booth, J. Van Keuren, H.P. Bathcelder, C.P. Li, 1988: A moored instrument to meas-

By-Laws

[CONTINUED FROM PAGE 43]

4. A quorum for the transaction of business at an Annual Meeting shall be at least two percent of the members present who are eligible to vote on May 1 of that year. The affirmative vote of a majority of the members present who are eligible to vote shall be required for the resolution of any question.

The Council may make other rules for meetings not inconsistent with the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws, Business not set forth in the notice of the meeting shall not be transacted if three members eligible to vote object.

5 The Society may organize, sponsor, or co-sponsor such additional local, national, or international meetings as may be authorized by the Council.

6 The fiscal year of the Society shall conform to the calendar vear

ARTICLE XII. Publications

The Society shall issue an official publication and such additional journals, papers, books and the like as may be authorized by the Council. ARTICLE XIII. Amendments to the Bylaws.

1. No part of the Bylaws shall be amended or annulied except by mail ballot in the following manner: A proposed amendment shall be approved by the Council or submitted to the President in a petition signed by at least five percent of the members eligible to vote on the preceding May 1 The proposed amendment, with the reasons therefore, shall be published in the official publication of the Society at least ninety days before ballots for the amend ment are mailed.

2. A proposed amendment, accompanied by a ballot, shall be mailed by the Executive Officer to each member eligible to vote at least sixty days prior to the designated date the ballots are to be counted. The ballots to be counted must be received by the Executive Officer on or before the designated date for counting the ballots

3. The adoption of a proposed amendment shall require the affirmative votes of at least two-thirds of all members voting. \square der Kommission z. wiss. Untersuchg. d. dt. Meere in Kiel f. d. Jahre 1882-1886, Berlin, 1-107 pp.

- Krümmel, O., 1892: Einige Ergebnisse der Expedition. In: Reisebeschreibung der Plankton-Expedition nebst Einleitung von Dr. Hensen und Vorberichten von Drs Dahl, Apstein, Lohmann, Borgert, Schutt und Brandt. Kiel und Leipzig, 370 pp mit 100 Figuren im Text, sowie 5 Karten, 2 Tafeln und einer Photogravur, 18-46 p.
- Menzel, D.W. And J.H. Ryther, 1960: The annual cycle of primary production in the Sargasso Sea off Bermuda. Deep-Sea Res., 6, 351-67.
- Moore, III, B. and B. Bolin, 1986: The oceans, carbon dioxide and global change, Oceanus 29(4), 9-15
- Radach, G., J. Berg, and B. Heinemann, 1984: On the relation of primary production to grazing

ure stimulated and natural oceanic bioluminescence. Ocean Optics IX. ed. by M. Blizard. Proc. Society of Photo-Optical Instrumentation Engineers, 925, 76-96.

- Swift, E., J.C. Dugas, P. Neidhardt, 1985a: Boiluminescence in Icelandic waters. American Society of Limnology and Oceanography, 48th Annual Meeting Abstract.
- Swift, E., E.J. Lessard, and W.H. Biggelev, 1985b; Organisms associated with stimulated epipelagic bioluminescence in the Sargasso Sea and Gulf Stream. J. Plankton Res. 7, 831-848
- Tett, P.B., 1972: An annual cycle of flash induced luminescence in the euphausiid Thysanoessa raschii. Mar. Biol. 12, 207-218.
- Williams, R. and D.V.P. Conway, 1981: Vertical distributions and seasonal abundance of Aglantha digitale (O.F. Muller) (Coelenterata: Tra-

ASSIMILATION OF OBSERVATIONS

[CONTINUED FROM PAGE 50]

before the symposium starts. The extended abstracts of the papers (up to six pages) prepared according to the instructions to be distributed later should be submitted no later than December 15, 1989, to: The Secretary-General of WMO; Attention PTR; World Meteorological Organization; 41, av. Giuseppe-Motta; Case postale No 5; CH-1211 Geneva 20; with a copy sent to the chairman of the IPC: Dr. O. Talagrand; Laboratoire de Météorologie Dynamique; Ecole Normale Supérieure ; 24, rue Lhomond; F-75231 Paris Cedex 05.

Participants will be notified of the acceptance of their papers by the IPC before March 1, 1990. For further information concerning the symposium, please refer to the above mentioned two addresses. \Box J. Labrousse, Research and Development Programme Department, World Meteorological Organization

during the Fladen Ground Experiment, 1976. In: Flows of energy and materials in Marine ecosystems, M.J.R. Fasham, Ed., Plenum, New York, 597-628,

Smayda, T.J., 1970: The suspension and sinking of phytoplankton in the sea. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. Annu. Rev., 8, 353-414.

Smetacek, V., 1985: Role of sinking in diatom life history cycles: ecological, evolutionary, and geological significance, Mar. Biol. 84, 239-251.

- Sverdrup, H.U., 1953: On conditions of vernal blooming of phytoplankton. J. Cons. Exp. Mer., 18, 287-295
- Walsh, J., 1988: On the nature of continental shelves. Academic Press, New York, 520 pp.
- Watson, A.J. and M. Whitfield, 1985: Composition of particles in the global ocean. Deep-Sea Res. 32, 1023-1039.

chymedusae) and other planktonic coelenterates in the northeast Atlantic Ocean. J. Plank. Res. 3, 633-643.

- Williams, R. and C.C. Hopkins, 1974: Sampling at Ocean Weather Station INDIA (59°N 19°W) in 1974. Annls Biol. 31, 57-60.
- Williams, R. and J.A. Lindley, 1982: Variability in abundance, vertical distribution and ontogenetic migrations of Thysanoessa longicaudata (Crustacea: Euphausiacea) in the north-eastern Atlantic Ocean. Mar. Biol. 69, 321-330.
- Woods, J., 1988: Mesoscale upwelling and primary production. In: Towards a Theory of Biological-Physical Interactions in the World Ocean, ed. B.J. Rothschild, D. Reidel, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 7-38.

The Bermuda Biological Station for Research, Inc. Announces Opportunities for Research and Coursework in Blue-Water Oceanography and Subtropical Marine Science.

Financial aid is available for exploratory research, summer courses and graduate thesis work. Facilities include a UNOL-supported vessel and a well-equipped laboratory wing. 1989 course topics include larval biology, zooplankton ecology, global environmental change, ecophysiology of corals, seagrasses and mangroves, hazard assessment and ecological statistics. For more information. contact:

> Dr. Susan B. Cook, Assistant Director Bermuda Biological Station for Research, Inc. 17 Biological Lane Ferry Reach GE 01 Bermuda Tel: 809-297-1880 FAX: 809-297-8143